IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
SOUTHWESTERN DIVISION

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF

ELECTRICAL WORKERS,

and

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
SHEET METAL, AIR, RAIL &
TRANSPORTATION WORKERS —
MECHANICAL AND ENGINEERING
DEPARTMENT,

and

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF

MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE
WORKERS, DISTRICT 19,

Plaintiffs,
V.

BNSF RAILWAY CO.,

Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 3:23-cv-5012

Plaintiffs International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (“IBEW?”), International
Association of Sheet Metal, Air, Rail & Transportation Workers — Mechanical and Engineering
Department (“SMART-MD”), and International Association of Machinists and Aerospace
Workers, District 19 (“IAM #19”) (collectively “the Unions”) bring this action against Defendant

BNSF Railway Co. (“BNSF” or “Defendant”) for violations of the Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C.

8§ 151 et seq., and state as follows:
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief under the Railway Labor Act
(“RLA”), 45 U.S.C. 8 151 et seq., presenting a federal question over which this Court has original
jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1337.

2. Defendant conducts substantial business operations in this judicial district, a
substantial part of the events giving rise to this Complaint relate to operations within this judicial
district, and the IBEW General Chairman responsible for labor relations with BNSF resides in this
judicial district. This Court therefore has jurisdiction over Defendant, and venue is proper pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (b)(2).

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff IBEW is an unincorporated labor organization and is the exclusive
bargaining representative — as defined by Section 1, Sixth of the RLA, 45 U.S.C. § 151, Sixth — of
the Mechanical Electricians employed by Defendant BNSF.

4. Plaintiff SMART-MD is an unincorporated labor organization and is the exclusive
bargaining representative — as defined by Section 1, Sixth of the RLA, 45 U.S.C. § 151, Sixth — of
the Railroad Sheet Metal Workers employed by Defendant BNSF.

5. Plaintiff IAM #19 is a division of the International Association of Machinists and
Aerospace Workers which is an unincorporated labor organization and is the exclusive bargaining
representative — as defined by Section 1, Sixth of the RLA, 45 U.S.C. § 151, Sixth — of the
Machinists employed by Defendant BNSF. IAM #19 is authorized to provide IAM, representation

to BNSF Machinists.
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6. Together, the Plaintiff Unions represent approximately 4,800 employees
performing mechanical inspection, maintenance, and repair of locomotives in numerous shops
across BNSF’s rail system.

7. Defendant BNSF is a carrier engaged in commerce within the meaning of the
Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. 88 151, First and Fourth. BNSF has approximately 35,000
employees, with roughly 7,500 locomotives operating on a rail network of 32,500 miles spanning
28 states and three Canadian provinces.

8. Defendant BNSF is the principal operating subsidiary of Burlington Northern Santa
Fe, LLC, a holding company and wholly owned subsidiary of Berkshire Hathaway, Inc.

FACTS

9. The Unions and their predecessors have continuously represented crafts and classes
of mechanical shop employees of BNSF and its predecessors for decades.

10.  The Unions and BNSF are parties to multiple collective bargaining agreements
(“the Agreements”). Under the Agreements, employees represented by the Unions perform a
variety of locomotive inspection, maintenance, and repair work.

11. IBEW represented Mechanical Electricians are responsible for the overhaul,
maintenance, inspection, testing, modification, software upgrades, and repair of all the various
electronic facets of a locomotive.

12. SMART-MD represented Railroad Sheet Metal Workers inspect, maintain, and
repair locomotives. They perform tasks from repairing fuel leaks to completing a major overhaul
of a locomotive. They maintain and repair locomotive cab equipment, including cab windshield
wipers, locomotive horns, and sanders, and also ensure all requirements are met regarding the cab

sanitation compartment.
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13. IAM represented Machinists inspect, test, maintain, repair, and overhaul the
mechanical and pneumatic systems on locomotives, as well as rebuild airbrake parts and the trucks
that hold up locomotives. Machinists also use wheel truers to restore locomotive and car wheels
back to Federal Railroad Administration (“FRA”) specifications and machine various parts.
Machinists also maintain and repair in-plant machines used to repair locomotives and other
equipment.

14. In accordance with the Agreements’ classification of work and scope of work rules,
regularly scheduled inspection, maintenance, and repair of locomotives has historically been
performed by, and has generally been recognized as work belonging to, employees represented by
the Unions.

15.  Locomotives are a basic necessity for BNSF’s business and its performance of its
obligations as a common carrier because locomotives provide the power to transport the freight of
BNSF’s customers. Having a sufficient fleet of functional, well inspected and maintained
locomotives is integral to BNSF’s provision of rail service and performance of its common carrier
obligation.

16. Federal regulations require “periodic inspection” and maintenance of locomotives
every 92 days. See 49 C.F.R. § 229.23(a). Certain locomotives, including the BNSF locomotives
relevant to this suit, are equipped with advanced on-board electronic monitoring systems and only
require a periodic inspection every 184 days. See 49 C.F.R. § 229.23(b).

17. Every periodic inspection requires a locomotive to pass certain tests, listed in 49
C.F.R. § 229.25. If a locomotive fails any given test of the periodic inspection, it must be repaired

before returning to service. See 49 C.F.R. § 229.23(a). Locomotives are not available for use in
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rail transportation and must be taken out of service if they have not been timely inspected or have
not been repaired after a failed inspection.

18. Federal regulations also require locomotives to undergo an “annual test” every 368
days. See 49 C.F.R. § 229.27. If a locomotive fails any portion of the annual test, the error(s) must
be corrected. Id. The annual test is traditionally performed simultaneously alongside the periodic
inspection.

19.  Accordingly, because of federal regulations, every BNSF locomotive should be
inspected and, if necessary, repaired every 184 days by employees represented by the Unions.

20.  Federal regulations also provide a process for carriers to petition for an “Emergency
Waiver of Safety Rules” in the case of certain “emergency events.” 49 C.F.R. § 211.45. If the
Administrator of the FRA declares that an emergency event exists, a railroad may submit a petition
for an emergency waiver through the process outlined in § 211.45.

21. In addition to the required periodic inspections and annual tests — commonly
referred to as “federal items” — locomotives also routinely require other “full maintenance” to
ensure peak efficiency and performance. In other words, locomotives that have passed ‘“Federal
Items Only” (FIO), i.e., the periodic inspection and annual test, are legally permitted to operate
but still require other regularly scheduled maintenance not covered by federal law.

22.  Historically, when a BNSF locomotive is “shopped,” it is inspected for federal
items as well as BNSF’s own general maintenance items. Once each item is inspected and repaired,
if necessary, the employee(s) performing the work mark the item as completed using a computer
tracking system. If all inspection items have not been “signed off,” i.e., marked as completed, the
computer system auto-generates a “defect,” which can only be cured by returning the locomotive

to a maintenance shop so all maintenance items can be completed.
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23. Historically, BNSF limited inspections to Federal Items Only inspections only
when necessary for the locomotive to operate legally while it traveled to a designated mechanical
shop destination, where it would undergo its full regularly scheduled inspection, maintenance, and
repair routine.

24.  When performed by employees represented by the Unions, the regularly scheduled
inspection, maintenance, and necessary repair of both federal and general maintenance items for a
BNSF locomotive is normally completed in well under a week, and often in as little as a 24-hour
period.

25. Employees represented by the Unions have historically performed the regularly
scheduled inspection, maintenance, and necessary repairs of both federal and general maintenance
items on BNSF locomotives.

26.  The Agreements between the Unions and BNSF include the September 25, 1964
National Agreement (the “1964 Agreement”). Article 1l of the 1964 Agreement, as amended,
mandates that work within the Unions’ classification or scope of work under the Agreements, or
other work “historically performed and generally recognized as work of the crafts...will not be
contracted unless certain criteria are met.”

27.  Specifically, Article Il, Section 1, as amended, provides:

Subcontracting of work, including unit exchange, will be done only
when genuinely unavoidable because (1) managerial skills are not
available on the property but this criterion is not intended to permit
subcontracting on the ground that there are not available a sufficient
number of supervisory personnel possessing the skills normally held
by such personnel; or (2) skilled manpower is not available on the
property from active or furloughed employees; or (3) essential
equipment in not available on the property; or (4) the required time
of completion of the work cannot be met with the skills, personnel
or equipment available on the property; or (5) such work cannot be
performed by the carrier except at a significantly greater cost,
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provided the cost advantage enjoyed by the subcontractor is not
based on a standard of wages below that of the prevailing wages
paid in the area for the type of work being performed and provided
further that if work which is being performed by railroad employees
in a railroad facility is subcontracted under this criterion, no
employees regularly assigned at that facility at the time of the
subcontracting will be furloughed as a result of such subcontracting.

28. Upon information and belief, BNSF has never subcontracted regularly scheduled
maintenance, even to address high numbers of out-of-service locomotives in need of their regularly
scheduled full maintenance.

29.  The number of out-of-service BNSF locomotives in need of regularly scheduled
maintenance has been high multiple times in the past, and employees represented by the Unions
have worked overtime and even switched to mandatory six-day work weeks to reduce the number
of out-of-service locomotives.

30. At present, and at all times material hereto, Defendant BNSF employs and has
employed Mechanical Electricians, Machinists, and Railroad Sheet Metal Workers, all of whom
are represented by the Unions, at approximately 25 different maintenance shops across its rail
network where regularly scheduled inspection, maintenance, and necessary repair of locomotives
is performed.

31.  Other shops along BNSF’s network — such as the Topeka, Kansas facility — are
“back shops” primarily used for major overhauls and rebuilds of locomotives. These shops,
however, do still occasionally perform routine inspection, maintenance, and repair work and have,
in the past, temporarily halted overhauls and rebuilds to assist in addressing high locomotive
inspection and maintenance backlogs.

32. In recent years, BNSF has removed a number of locomotives from service and

placed them in storage. Returning a stored or “laid up” locomotive to service often requires more
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rigorous inspections and repairs than are performed on an in-service locomotive due to a variety
of reasons, such as prolonged periods without operating or vandals dismantling and stealing
expensive materials and components, which render “laid up” locomotives unusable. Accordingly,
“laid up” locomotives normally cannot be quickly reintroduced into the active fleet. As of early
February 2023, the number of BNSF locomotives that were “laid up” in storage was approximately
1,750.

33.  Since 2020, BNSF altogether closed or decreased its workforce at numerous
maintenance shops across its network, including shops in Birmingham, Alabama; Barstow,
California; Commerce, California; Richmond, California; Chicago, lllinois; Sioux City, lowa;
Kansas City, Kansas; Topeka, Kansas; Glendive, Montana; Alliance, Nebraska; Tulsa, Oklahoma;
Memphis, Tennessee; Dayton, Texas; Fort Worth, Texas; Houston, Texas; Galveston, Texas;
Silsbee, Texas; Spokane, Washington; Superior, Wisconsin; Donkey Creek, Wyoming; and
Guernsey, Wyoming.

34.  Although BNSF freight volumes suffered during the first part of 2020 due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, according to BNSF’s own financial reports, volumes had recovered to pre-
pandemic levels by the end of 2020.

35.  Since 2020, BNSF has furloughed over 400 maintenance employees represented by
the Unions performing work across BNSF’s network. Many furloughed maintenance employees
were not recalled to service for many months even as demand for rail service returned starting in
the summer of 2020. When BNSF finally started recalling furloughed employees in late 2021 and
early 2022, many declined to return. As mechanical employees declined recall, BNSF did not

immediately begin hiring to fill the positions those employees would have held.
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36.  Since 2020, 277 Mechanical Electricians represented by the IBEW were furloughed
at some point in time. The IBEW has seen a net loss of 341 employees it represents. In 2022 alone,
the IBEW saw a net loss of 111 Mechanical Electricians.

37.  Since 2020, 32 Railroad Sheet Metal Workers represented by SMART-MD were
furloughed at some point in time. SMART-MD has seen a net loss of 50 employees it represents
since 2020.

38.  Since 2020, 96 Machinists represented by IAM were furloughed at some point in
time. IAM has seen a net loss of approximately 580 employees since 2020.

39. Beginning around September 2021, BNSF also began deferring regularly scheduled
maintenance of its locomotives, limiting inspections and repairs to federal items only. In other
words, locomotives that were in the shop were only inspected and repaired to meet the minimum
standards required by federal law so they could continue to legally operate. All other necessary
regularly scheduled maintenance was otherwise deferred.

40. On September 2, 2021, James Brackett of BNSF instructed BNSF’s maintenance
shop field leaders to complete federal items only inspections on locomotives entering the shop for
their regularly scheduled inspection and maintenance. Brackett also included detailed instructions
on how employees should mark general inspection and maintenance items as completed in the
computer system — even though those items were not performed — to avoid a “defect” from being
generated in BNSF’s computer system indicating that the locomotive needed to be “shopped” for
additional inspection and maintenance. A copy of that correspondence is attached to the Complaint

as Attachment 1.
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41.  On September 21, 2021, BNSF General Foreman Paul McLeod forwarded a
substantially similar email from James Brackett to employees at the Alliance, Nebraska facility
with instructions to “Sign off the general maintenance items; they do not need to be performed.”

42. For fiscal year 2021, BNSF reported an operating income of nearly $8.8 billion and
a net income of nearly $6 billion, a 14% and 16% increase from 2020, respectively. Those
increases were accompanied by a 7% increase in total volume of freight compared to 2020. BNSF’s
parent company, Berkshire Hathaway, announced that BNSF’s 2021 net income was the highest
ever for the railroad.

43.  Asof the end of the third quarter of 2022, BNSF had reported an operating income
of $6.5 billion and a net income of $4.5 billion, a 2% increase and 4% increase compared to the
same periods in 2021, respectively, despite total volume of freight decreasing 5% compared to the
same periods in 2021.

44.  On about December 15, 2022, BNSF submitted a request to the FRA for an
“enforcement discretion” that would temporarily relieve BNSF from its obligation to perform
periodic inspections and annual tests for hundreds of locomotives. The FRA granted BNSF’s
request, citing a “winter storm” as the reason for granting BNSF temporary relief. On about
December 27, 2022, again in response to BNSF’s request, the FRA extended the “enforcement
discretion” period until January 14, 2022.

45.  Although the FRA granted BNSF an “enforcement discretion,” the procedures for
petitioning the FRA for an emergency waiver of safety rules under 49 C.F.R. 8 211.45 were never
triggered because the FRA Administrator never declared an emergency event in December 2022.

And the FRA has affirmatively stated that no waiver of the FRA’s safety rules was issued to BNSF.
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46.  On December 29, 2022, Henry Schafer of BNSF circulated an email to mechanical
employees announcing that BNSF was planning to implement a “0% overtime initiative” in 2023
as part of BNSF’s efforts to reduce the mechanical budget by approximately $51 million across its
rail system. A copy of Schafer’s December 29 email is attached to the Complaint as Attachment
2.

47.  OnJanuary 5, 2023, Derek Cargill, BNSF’s General Director of Labor Relations,
sent a letter to representatives of the Unions giving notice of BNSF’s intent to “contract out for
work needed to reduce the number of out of service locomotives in the system.” A complete and
accurate copy of that letter is attached to the Complaint as Attachment 3.

48.  The January 5 letter asserted that the need to contract out regularly scheduled
maintenance was “driven by locomotive demand being beyond plan for over 12 months and early
winter weather, resulting in a higher than normal number of bad order locomotives on the road and
in the shop.” As a result, BNSF claimed that “it is necessary and essential to outsource up to 30
locomotives per week to third party vendors for the next 3-6 months.”

49, More specifically, BNSF’s January 5 letter indicated that “[t]here are currently
approximately 1,000 units currently FIO’d [inspected for federal items only] which need their full
maintenance completed... BNSF currently does not have the necessary manpower and shop
capacity available on the property to perform this work within the necessary time frame, as there
is an immediate need to address the high number of bad order locomotives on the road and in the
shop.”

50.  All the locomotives that BNSF indicated in its January 5 letter to the Unions would

be sent to subcontractors for their regularly scheduled periodic inspections and maintenance were
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included among the locomotives for which BNSF sought an “enforcement discretion” from the
FRA in December 2022.

51.  Although the emergency waiver of the FRA’s safety rules was never invoked or
granted, the “enforcement discretion” BNSF received from the FRA nevertheless allowed BNSF
ample time to redirect a number of locomotives overdue for their regularly scheduled inspections,
maintenance, and necessary repairs to subcontractors’ maintenance shops.

52.  On January 18, 2023, representatives of the IBEW and BNSF held a conference
over BNSF’s subcontracting of regularly scheduled locomotive inspection, maintenance, and
repair.

53.  On January 27, 2023, Derek Cargill sent a follow-up a letter to IBEW General
Chairman Jeff Allred further outlining BNSF’s reasons for its decision to subcontract the regularly
scheduled locomotive inspection, maintenance, and necessary repair work.

54, In the January 27 letter, Cargill stated that “BNSF does not have the necessary
manpower and shop capacity available on the property to address the unusually high out of service
count and back log of scheduled maintenance events.” BNSF did not address, however, how
permanent shop closures, force reductions, placing locomotives in storage, and deliberately
deferring regularly scheduled maintenance likely affected the out of service count or maintenance
backlog.

55.  Despite BNSF’s acknowledgement in its January 27 letter that the “job market for
electricians and other skilled crafts has been unusually tight over the last several years, resulting
in a slower hiring pace at specific locations,” BNSF has not hired a sufficient number of employees
to fill the electrician and machinist positions capable of performing the necessary locomotive

inspection, maintenance, and repair work, and has not actively sought to hire any workers into
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sheet metal worker positions. As stated in 1 36-38, the Unions have experienced net losses in the
number of employees they represent since 2020, totaling approximately 750 workers.

56. BNSF’s subcontracting plan has been implemented and is ongoing. As of February
8, 2023, subcontractors were completing the regularly scheduled inspection, maintenance, and
repair of locomotives in 10.34 days per locomotive, on average, without accounting for the added

time it takes to transport the locomotives to and from the subcontractors.

COUNT I
(Violation of the Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. 8§ 151 et seq.)

57.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 56 above are incorporated by
reference.
58.  Section 2, First of the RLA provides:
It shall be the duty of all carriers, their officers, agents, and
employees to exert every reasonable effort to make and maintain
agreements concerning rates of pay, rules, and working conditions,
and to settle all disputes, whether arising out of the application of
such agreements or otherwise, in order to avoid any interruption to

commerce or to the operation of any carrier growing out of any
dispute between the carrier and the employees thereof.

45 U.S.C. § 152, First.

59.  Section 2, First is “more than a mere statement of policy or exhortation to the
parties; rather, it was designed to be a legal obligation, enforceable by whatever appropriate means
might be developed on a case-by-case basis.” Chi. & N.W. Ry. v. Transportation Union, 402 U.S.
570, 577 (1971). “Congress intended the enforcement of 8 2 First to be overseen by appropriate
judicial means.” Id. at 581.

60. Under Section 2, First, BNSF was obligated to exert every reasonable effort to
maintain its agreement with the Unions and to deal with the Unions in good faith, see Chi. & N.W.

Ry., 402 U.S. at 575-78, which required BNSF to comply with its contractual mandate that the
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work performed by employees represented by the Unions would not be subcontracted out unless
“genuinely Unavoidable.”

61.  BNSEF’s actions, including laying locomotives up in storage; permanently closing
mechanical shops; furloughing hundreds of qualified mechanical employees and failing to timely
recall them; deferring regularly scheduled inspections and maintenance of locomotives; failing to
maintain adequate staffing levels capable of performing the necessary and foreseeable inspection
and maintenance work; and planning to implement a 0% overtime initiative for 2023, left BNSF
unable to timely perform the most basic locomotive inspection and maintenance functions of a
railroad. BNSF’s current locomotive inspection backlog is not an accident or the result of events
outside BNSF’s control, but is the result of BNSF’s own affirmative decisions. These actions
demonstrate a failure by BNSF to exert every reasonable effort to maintain its agreements with the
Unions.

62. Furthermore, BNSF’s deliberate course of action, culminating in its January 5
pronouncement that it was subcontracting regularly scheduled inspection, maintenance, and repair
work historically performed by employees represented by the Unions, constitutes a bad-faith
attempt to evade its contractual obligations.

63.  BNSEF’s justifications for its claim that “it is necessary and essential to outsource
up to 30 locomotives per week” rely solely on the conditions created by BNSF’s own bad-faith
course of action.

64.  Accordingly, BNSF’s course of action and plan to subcontract the regularly
scheduled inspection, maintenance, and repair work historically performed by employees

represented by the Unions, as communicated in its January 5 letter, constitutes a violation of
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BNSF’s duty under Section 2, First of the RLA to “exert every reasonable effort to make and

maintain agreements.”
REQUEST FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

@ Declare, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, that Defendant’s course of action and plan
to subcontract the regularly scheduled maintenance of locomotives violated its duty under Section
2, First of the RLA to exert every reasonable effort to make and maintain agreements;

(b) Enjoin Defendant from any and all acts and communications in furtherance of its
plan to subcontract the regularly scheduled maintenance of locomotives as communicated in
Defendant’s January 5 letter to the Plaintiffs;

(© Order Defendant to exert every reasonable effort to maintain its agreements with
Plaintiffs as required by Section 2, First of the RLA; and

(d) Provide any other relief the Court deems just and proper.
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Dated:

February 24, 2023

Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ Quinlan B. Moll

Jason R. McClitis (MO Bar No. 61611)
Quinlan B. Moll (MO Bar No. 72940)
BLAKE & UHLIG, P.A.

6803 West 64th St., Suite 300
Overland Park, KS 66202

Phone: (913) 321-8884

Fax: (913) 321-2396
jrm@blake-uhlig.com
gbm@blake-uhlig.com

Blake & Uhlig, P.A.
2500 Holmes
Kansas City, MO 64108

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Lucas R. Aubrey (pro hac vice forthcoming)
aubrey@shermandunn.com

Erich H. Lange (pro hac vice forthcoming)
lange@shermandunn.com

SHERMAN DUNN, P.C.

900 Seventh St., NW, Suite 1000
Washington, DC 20001

Phone: (202) 785-9300

Fax: (202) 775-1950

Attorneys for IBEW

Richard S. Edelman (pro hac vice forthcoming)
REdelman@mooneygreen.com

MOONEY, GREEN, SAINDON,

MURPHY & WELCH, P.C.

1920 L St., NW, Suite 400

Washington, DC 20036

Phone: (202) 783-0010

Fax: (202) 783-6088

Attorney for SMART-MD and IAM #19
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FRQ + 095u opportunities inbound

Brackett, James S
Thu 9/2/2021 3:05 PM

To:

MECH DL General Foreman;
MECH DL Shop Superintendents;
MECH DL Field Superintendents

Cc:

Rodriguez, Edmundo;
Soto, Bruno;

Grubbs, Mark L;
Raza, Abid;

Smith, Jeremy E;
Lager, Eric;

Morgan, Jonathan D;
Murray, Robert A;
Brackett, James S

Field leaders,

To assist in reducing a bubble of FIO units coming due maintenance we will be sharing a list of units each
day that can have FIO only and 095u completed at one shopping event. These units will have the FRQ
items completed, the fuel and oil filters changed and we will run the unit to the next maintenance.

To complete the process and not have an FIO defect applied follow the process below.

e Complete the FRQ items in MAM (blue card only items, same as FIO)

e Complete Project 095U - fuel and oil filters change

e Sign off the general maintenance items; they do not need to be performed. This is to
prevent an FIO defect from being auto-generated.

o Due to the current structure of MAM, sign off of the general maintenance
scope is the only way to prevent a FIO defect from automatically being added
and potentially escalating to a level 7 defect or driving another shopping
event for maintenance.

o If we fail to sign off the general maintenance items and release the unit
resulting in an FIO defect being auto-generated you may email
MAMMECHHelp <MAMMECHHelp@bnsf.com> and request the FIO defect to
be completed. Please communicate the 095u was complete and the unit was
released without signing off the general maintenance items in error.

Thank you to the MAM help desk for assisting with this process.
The units shown below are inbound to shop and past due or due maintenance in the next 5 days. These
will show due FRA, will not have an active FIO defect and have project 095u active at time of arrival.
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FRQ/FIO Sign off items

BNSF 6549 FRA Due 1184 -0
184 Days Running Maintenance-BNSF 6549 G Show More O, 8
> [0 M gysr esss es44ca B
v [ [EE] BNSF6549 FRQ Inspection FRQ with ERI Show More T 00:00
Operation Tasks Planned Start Workers  Est.Time
[[]  Federal Inspection items ETZl o7 00:00 m 02H30M
# Tasks Completed/NA By

Mechanical FRA Item 1 - Brakes [F3=}

10 Supporting Material

o0 Mechanical FRA Item 2 - Running Gear [FZa)
Supporting Material

34 Mechanical FRA ltem 3 - Cab Equipment 2]
Supporting Material

ad Mechanical FRA Item 4 - Mech Equipment )
Supporting Material

55 Mechanical FRA Item 7 - Safety Appliances [EZel
Supporting Material

=3 Electrical FRA Item 3 - Cab Equipment T3}
Supporting Material

5 Electrical FRA Item S - Elect Equipment CE=
Supporting Material

> [[]  EventRecorder Test CTEl o1 00:00 m 00H30M

o

16/16
oo E)
os ()

<l

<l

Status

Not Started

SelectAll [ |

Not Started

PTC Function Test are never completed and Brakes FRA item 1 is signed off by Machinist

WRK_RPT_DESC FRA Code

FRQ Items

Hand Brake - Inspect/Test/Clean

Event Recorder - Inspect/Test/Download

Annual Test - Electrical Load Meter / Air Brake Gauges- Checked/Calibrated
AFM Calibration

232.105¢
229.135

229.27, 229.27
229.29(b), 232.205

Change Filters on Pre-Coalescers & Dirt Collectors in MR Lines to Brake Equipment, AUX Devices, & Pre-

Coalescers on Air Dryer

Completed Level Two Airbrake Test (2Al, 3Al, 4Al, 5Al, 7Al, or 8Al).
RCL Function Test

PTC Function Test

Brake System

Mechanical Blue Card Item 1 Completed Per FRQ Blue Card Requirements.

Perform Periodic Air Brake Test. (Self-Test)

Test Air Gauges (plus or minus 2 psi).

MR Leakage Test - Check Valve

Brake Pipe Leakage Test

Brake Cylinder Leakage Test

Document Control Air Setting (If Equipped) (Should be 80psi).

Check for correct air pressure settings. >Main Res Compessor (130-140psi), >Brake pipe(90psi), >Equalizing
Res(90psi)

Drain main reservoirs and verify blowdowns are functioning properly - In the auto posistion - Venting
Check Auxiliary Emergency Brake Valve. (Fireman's valve) for Proper Operation & Identification.

Test Main Reservoir Safety Valve. (145-155 PSI)

Inspect Brake Rigging

Verify Piston Travel

Check MU Air Lines, Valves & Clamps. Replace Any Valves with Defective Locks.
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229.29¢(1)
229.29
229.25

229.29(a)

229.59
229.59(a)
229.59(b)
229.59(c)
229.59(d)

229.49(b)
229.46(2)
229.47(a)
229.49(a)(1)
229.57
229.55(a)
229.45
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Mechanical Blue Card Items 2, 3, 4, & 6 Completed Per FRQ Blue Card Requirements.

Item 2 Running Gear

Inspect Draft Gear Pin / Inspect Pins & Bushing / Inspect Coupler for Defects & Height

Record Wheel Measurements. Also inspect Wheels for Defects such as: Cracks, Flat & Shell Spots.
Verify Side Bearing Clearance

Verify Clearance above top of rail

Verify Snow Plow/Pilot Clearance

Inspect Trucks - Springs - Tie Bars - Pedestal Liners - Securement

Inspect Dampener for oil droplets

Item 3 Cab Mech

Inspect Toilet Operation / Clean, Charge, and Drain as Necessary
Inspect Operation of Toilet Room Door Modesty Lock

Inspect fire extinguisher date and inspect brackets.

Inspect all Windows for defects & Proper FRA Glazing Identification
Inspect Heater/Ventalation

Inspect AC/Ventalation

Inspect Seat for proper operation and securement

Inspect Cab Locks functional - Interior and Exterior

Test Bell for proper operation Lubricate as needed

Test Sanders for proper operation

Inspect condition of blue card and air slip holder

22961

229.75, 229.73

229.69

229.71

229.123

229.65, 229.63, 229.67

229.137
229.137

229.45

223.11, 229.119(b)
229.119(d)
229.119(h)
229.119(a)
229.119(j)

229.129

229.131

229.23

Under Item 4 Mechanical (PTC is never tested and verified) Under Item 3 & 5 the PTC alerter is not

tested, Units are not taken to a pit to verify motors

Inspect and clean Reflectorization
Clean Cab/Passageways/Air Compressor,Engine,Electrical Compartments

Item 4 Mechanical
Check Operation of Engine Protective Devices: (Self-Test)
Check Exhaust System for Leaks or Cracks

Electrical Blue Card Items 3 & 5 Completed per FRQ Blue Card Requirements.
Item 3 Cab Elec

Check Operation of All Emergency Fuel Shut Off Devices from All Locations
Check all Electrical Lamps, Replace as Required.

Perform Operational Wheel Slip Test.

Test and Inspect Speed Indicators

Inspect Head of Train Device (HED)

Test Alerter Function

Item 5 Electrical

Inspect Jumper Cables and MU Receptacles.

Inspect Unit for Proper Decals-Replace any Missing or Faded.

Inspection traction motor covers

Make Visual Inspection of Electrical Switch Gear, Inspect Rotating Electrical Equip & Contactors, Relays, etc /
Verify Insulation and Covers are in place

Inspect all Traction Motors >Inspect leads,boots,hose clamps,carbody leads

Check Operation of Ground Relay / Inspect or Replace Cutout Switch Seal.

Item 7 Saftey Appliance

Inspect Uncoupling Lever/Anti Creep Clearance

Inspect Step Condition

Verify Step Lighting or Outer edge must be painted a contrasting color
Vertical Hand Holds - 2.5" Clearance - Painted Contrasting Color
Inspect Continuous Barrier
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224.101
229.119c¢

229.101
229.43

229.93
229.127,229.125
229.115, 229.101

229147
232.409
229.14

229.89
229.85
229.41

229.91, 229.83,
229.91
229.91, 229.83,

231.29, 229.61(a)(3)
231.30

231.30

231.30

229.119
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BNSF 6549 FRA Due M184 - 09 8 15
m I Turnover Search QY
Comment: Add ! View
Grouped WO
% i g 108(8)/ -
> [] BEE 523-3BNSF 4665BNSF 8391BNSF 6549,8NsF 1025 (RS IFNEY 08:05 Complete L )e O =
Inspections
> [ [ BNSF 6549 Locomotive Outshop- Supervisor Show More 00:00 070 Q =
184 Days Running Maintenance-BNSF 6549 G Show More O " =
> O M glsribao eostca 00:00 w B T
> [ [EE] BNSF 6549 FRQ Inspection FRQ with ERI Show More ETISY 00:00 o ) =
> [ [EI BNSF 6549 Wheel Sheet Maintenance Wheel 00:00 N— w ) =
> [ KCIEd BNSF 6549 Traction Motor Lube Top Off Fi Show More 00:00 w & T

Nafarte

After the FIO (Federal Items Only) is completed, a 095U is applied on various units. Then the unit returns
to get a Fuel and Qil Filter change, and that will get Deferred also by front line supervisors and AGF’s

Projects
> |[] [IEE 069s - Heated Blowdown EVO- 069S - Heate Show More 00:00 Deferred 0/1 @
> [] [EEE 090M - Kickstart EVO- 090M - Kickstart E Show More 00:00 Deferred 0/l E]
> [] [IEE] 095U - Fuel and Oil Filter change at Ser Show More 00:00 Deferred 0/1 @

Attachments/Comments
| Attachments(0)

v Repair Comments (1)

P Johnson:

defer
September 4 2021 07:56

P Johnson Add Comments Patrick Johnson
Full 184 inspection FIO UNIT
Component:OTHER Component:OTHER

Symptom:OTHER - TEXT REQUIRED

Repair Action:OTHER - TEXT REQ
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They will also Defer the download approval from Wabtec. So basically it looks like they inspected and
released the unit, but in reality they just defer it and it will not even get the basic filter maintenance.

Prior to release, after completing the notch & P Johnson Add Comments Patrick Johnson
Outbound Load take a fresh download. Once the FIO UNIT

download is synced ask for a recommended Component:OTHER

release review with GPOC AT (888) 432-0209. Repair Action:OTHER - TEXT REQ

Please complete this step with time to address any
findings prior to release. Close this defect with the
name of the GPOC representative you spoke with.

Long Text

09/02/2021 19:00:20 CST Interface ID From GE fo XI (X_XI_GEHTTP)095U - Fuel and Oil Filter change at Ser---GE Last update By:
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miketschacher@outlook.com

From: Darrell Patterson IBEW <dpattersonsc16@outlook.com>

Sent: Friday, January 13, 2023 10:27 AM

To: ibewsc16@outlook.com; 'Jeff Burk'; 'Brad Carothers'; Mike Tschacher; Darrell Patterson
IBEW

Subject: FW: Overtime Goal = 0% in 2023 (Locomotive Side)

Sent: Tuesday, January 3, 2023 3:11 PM
To: MECH DL TSSUPERS <MECHDLTSSUPERS@BNSF.com
Subject: RE: Overtime Goal = 0% in 2023 (Locomotive Side)

Just FYI, due to winter weather impacts up North, we have been asked to start calling OT on the
weekends to help push the UNSC units that have been sent to us, along with others.

Here we go, we can do this, done it before several times.

Henry

From: Schafer, Henry R <Henry.Schafer@BNSF.com>

Sent: Thursday, December 29, 2022 3:01 PM

To: MECH DL TSSUPERS <MECHDLTSSUPERS@BNSF.com>; MECH DL TSMT Local Chairs
<MECHDLTSMTLocalChairs@BNSF.com>

Subject: Overtime Goal = 0% in 2023 (Locomotive Side)

Importance: High

All,

Some of you may have heard that we are moving to a 0% overtime initiative in 2023 and we wanted to
help explain the reasoning behind this. As a whole, the mechanical department has a cost savings
initiative to reduce the mechanical budget by $51 million across the system. In an effort to help reduce
those dollars we will try to avoid calling Overtime next year as much as possible as those dollars play a
large role in that spending. We will continually monitor our progress through all areas of the shop and
work to help with manpower issues, work strains, and material availability to help us achieve our 2023
TSMT goals and do our part in helping to reduce the 2023 mechanical budget. Please let us know if you
have any questions, and thank you for all that you do.

1
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Once we go through the first quarter, we will readjust as necessary. | will be covering this through a
town hall later next week once | set the date

NOTE: Business Car trips cannot be avoided, so understand we will still have riders.

Henry Schafer| BNSF Railway | Topeka SMT| Henry.Schafer@bnsf.com | Office# 785-435-
5600 | CELL 308-760-0558
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V= F4 74 s y i Derek Cargill BNSF Railway Company

A — General Director P.O. Box 961030
RAILWAY Labor Relations Fort Worth, TX 76161-0030
2600 Lou Menk Drive

Fort Worth, TX 76131-2830
Phone: (817) 352-1046

January 5, 2023 File No. 184-09-1417

Mr. Jeff Allred, General Chairman IBEW ibewscl6@outlook.com

Mr. John McCloskey, General Chairman SMART jmccloskey@smart-gc2.org
Mr. Joe Fraley, International Representative SMART jfraley(@smart-union.org

Mr. Kenny Krause, General Chairman IAM kkrause@districtlodge19.com

Re: Bad Order Maintenance/Repair Outsource
All:

As information, BNSF intends to contract out for work needed to reduce the number of out of
service locomotives in the system. The current out of service count is currently at 550, which is
the highest mark we’ve seen in the last 5-7 years. This is driven by locomotive demand being
beyond plan for over 12 months and early winter weather, resulting in a higher than normal number
of bad order locomotives on the road and in the shop. Although we have taken steps to manage
this bubble of work, including leveraging all shop capacities we have throughout the network, it is
critical that we get the out of service count back to a healthy level (around 400-420) as quickly as
we can. In order accomplish that, it is necessary and essential to outsource up to 30 locomotives
per week to third party vendors for the next 3-6 months. The primary focus will be on our
maintenance and FI1O backlog.

There are currently approximately 1,000 units currently FIO’d which need their full maintenance
completed, and we have depleted our ready fleet to the point that our recovery capability is severely
limited. In addition, we expect to face continued significant weather events in the upcoming
months.

BNSF currently does not have the necessary manpower and shop capacity available on the property
to perform this work within the necessary time frame, as there is an immediate need to address the
high number of bad order locomotives on the road and in the shop. In 2022, we hired 474
Mechanical employees, with a hiring plan of 569. That delta of 95 was rolled over to the 2023
hiring plan. For 2023, we have a hiring plan of 711, and while we continue to press forward with
this robust hiring plan, it will take time to get these additional employees hired and on the

property.

As of December, year to date overtime was 12.07% with as much as ~23.0% on weekends for the
month of December. At the same time, our locomotive availability has not been able to keep pace
with our velocity demands. Accordingly, in order to have a reliable fleet to meet our customers’
needs, we must temporarily supplement our forces by outsourcing a limited number of
locomotives to outside vendors.

Case 3:23-cv-05012-WBG Document 1-3 Filed 02/24/23 Page h@&éhment 3



184-09-1417
January 5, 2023
Page 2

The initial batch of locomotives, currently due FIO maintenance, are provided as an attachment to
this notice. As always, we will continue to monitor shop capacity and work as many of these
units on property as possible. This notice will be supplemented as additional units are sent to a
third-party vendor pursuant to this notice. We anticipate starting as soon as advance notice
requirements are complete, barring unexpected circumstances. Please reference file number 184-
09-1417 on any future correspondence regarding this matter.

The units outsourced under this notice will go to various shops for repairs, including the following:

1. QRS, Madison, IL — output of 10/wk
2. MEI East St Louis — output of 10/wk
3. Mid America Car — output of 3/wk
4. Wabtec PTRA, San Angelo, AMP — Backup locations
5. MEI Burlington IA — Backup location
6. Progress Rail — Northport, Mayfield — Backup location
7. NRE — Mt Vernon, Paducah — Backup location
Sincerely,
Derek Cargill

Attachment: Initial List of Locomotives

cc: K. Solomons
E. Rodriguez
B. Soto
D. Dortch
A. Raza
J. Smith
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184-09-1417
January 5, 2023
Page 2

Initial List of Locomotives

979 BNSF 3940 ET44C4 M368 Winter Waiver
980 BNSF 4007 C44-9W Mi184 Winter Waiver
981 BNSF 4040 C44-9W Mi84 Winter Waiver
982 BNSF 4089 C44-9W M368 Winter Waiver
983 BNSF 4100 C44-9W M368 Winter Waiver
Q84 BNSF 4170 C44-9W M368 Winter Waiver
985 BNSF 4744 C44-9W M368 Winter Waiver
986 BNSF 5118 C44-9W Mi184 Winter Waiver
987 BNSF 5131 C44-9W Mi84 Winter Waiver
988 BNSF 5471 C44-9W 13CP Winter Waiver
989 BNSF 5492 C44-9W Mi84 Winter Waiver
990 BNSF 5682 AC4400CW | M368 Winter Waiver
Q01 BNSF 5685 AC4400CW | M184 Winter Waiver
992 BNSF 5804 ES44AC M368 Winter Waiver
993 BNSF 5856 ES44AC M368 Winter Waiver
994 BNSF 5971 ES44AC Mi84 Winter Waiver
995 BNSF 6065 ES44AC 13CP Winter Waiver
996 BNSF 6260 ES44AC M368 Winter Waiver
997 BNSF 6275 ES44AC M368 Winter Waiver
998 BNSF 6291 ES44AC M368 Winter Waiver
999 BNSF 6323 ES44AC M368 Winter Waiver
1000 BNSF 6333 ES44AC Mi184 Winter Waiver
1001 BNSF 6384 ES44AC M368 Winter Waiver
1002 BNSF 6637 ES44Ca M368 Winter Waiver
1003 BNSF 6639 ES44C4q M368 Winter Waiver
1004 BNSF 6653 ES44C4q Mi184 Winter Waiver
1005 BNSF 6706 ES44C4q Mi84 Winter Waiver
1006 BNSF 7132 ES44C4 Mi184 Winter Waiver
1007 BNSF 7135 ES44C4q M368 Winter Waiver
1008 BNSF 7374 ES44DC M368 Winter Waiver
1009 BNSF 7399 ES44DC Mi84 Winter Waiver
1010 BNSF 7430 ES44DC M368 Winter Waiver
1011 BNSF 7474 ES44DC Mi84 Winter Waiver
1012 BNSF 7499 ES44DC M368 Winter Waiver
101 BNSF 7655 ES44DC M368 Winter Waiver
1014 BNSF 7682 ES44DC Mi84 Winter Waiver
1015 BNSF 7860 ES44DC Mi84 Winter Waiver
1016 BNSF 7868 ES44DC Mi84 Winter Waiver
1017 BNSF 8005 ES44C4q M368 Winter Waiver
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Page 2
1018 BNSF 8024 ES44C4q M368 Winter Waiver
1019 BNSF 8051 ES44C4q Mi184 Winter Waiver
1020 BNSF 8057 ES44C4q 16CP Winter Waiver
1021 BNSF 8248 ES44C4q Mi184 Winter Waiver
1022 BNSF 8379 E4qC4C Mi84 Winter Waiver
102 BNSF 9139 SD70ACE M368 Winter Waiver
1024 BNSF 9382 SD70ACE M368 Winter Waiver
1025 BNSF 9746 SD70MACE | M184 Winter Waiver
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